
 
 
 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY OF STUART BOARD 
OF ADJUSTMENT HELD IN CITY HALL, 121 SOUTHWEST FLAGLER 
AVENUE, STUART, FLORIDA ON THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 22, 2011 
 
Those present: Bonnie Landry, Chair 
   Dr. E.E. Griffith, Vice Chair 
   Kelli Glass 
       
Those absent:  Mark Mathes 
   Jeffrey Callahan 
 
Also present:   Deanna Freeman, Senior Planner 
 
I.   CALL TO ORDER:    Chairman 
 
Chair Landry called the meeting to order at 5:34PM. 
 
II.   ROLL CALL:    Secretary 
 
Those answering roll call and others present are referenced above. 
 
III.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  August 25, 2011  
 
MOTION:  Kelli Glass 
SECOND:   Dr. Griffith 
 
Motion carried 3/0 
 
Public Comments:   None 
 
Board Comments:   None 
 
1. Request to consider a variance to accommodate a Pilates studio and Professional Office 

with a front setback of 24.33 feet, where 25 feet is required; side setbacks of 2.65 and 
10.6 feet where 15.0 feet is required; a minimum lot width of 50 feet where 100 feet 
is required; and a minimum lot area of 5,983 square feet where 10,000 square feet is 
required. Project Name: Stephann Cotton Project No.: Z11080004 Location: 705 SE 5 
St., Stuart, FL   

 
Presentation:   Deanna Freeman, Senior Planner 
 
Public Comments:    
 
Louise Latourneau Conan who lives on 5th Street said she thought the mixed use in the 
neighborhood is great and loves to see things like this happen. She said she talked to a 
few neighbors who couldn’t be here and thought it was a good idea also. 
 
 
 



LOCAL PLANNING AGENCY                PAGE 2                  SEPTEMBER 22, 2011  
 
Steve Brown has an office on E. 5th Street said Stephann Cotton has been a wonderful 
neighbor and he is in complete support of this. 
 
John Leighton who owns property in the area said his only concern is the restrictions.  He 
said if you look at the zoning north of 5th Street, it is all the same and asked why they are 
restricting his home when the rest of the neighborhood doesn’t have the same restrictions. 
He thought they would want to encourage businesses in that area and the conditions 
restricting the parcel would not encourage this. 
 
Deanna Freeman said the proposed pilates studio is a use permitted under B2 zoning, not 
B1 or R3. She said professional offices are permitted under R3 zoning and they are trying 
to make sure the property behaves like a professional office, so the addition of conditions 
is because this is a use called out in a more intense zoning which is an extra protection for 
the city.  
 
William Schaffer of 701 E. 5th Street who lives next door said the property used to be a 
daycare center. He said there is a parking problem on that street but as his next door 
neighbor, he has no problems with this.  
 
Board Comments: 
 
Bonnie Landry asked if the conditions are contained in their packet. 
 
Deanna Freeman said they are contained in the Administrative Variance. 
 
Kelli Glass asked if it was common that an Administrative Variance was non-
transferable, so if they sold the property it would transfer back to residential. 
 
Deanna Freeman said that if they sold it, the next person would have to come in and 
apply for an administrative variance. 
 
Bonnie Landry said she is concerned that the lot size is substantially smaller than the 
minimum lot size and asked if it is permanent. 
 
Deanna Freeman said it was grandfathered in and many of the lots in the area don’t meet 
the minimum R3 zoning. 
 
Stephann Cotton, owner of the property thanked the city and said they have been very 
nice to work with. He said they are trying to improve the street. 
 
Bonnie Landry asked if the conditions were something that could be controlled through 
occupational licensing. 
 
Terry O’Neil, Interim Development Director said occupational licensing was not linked 
to zoning. He added that as they explore the possibility of an overlay zone to this area, 
this exercise could potentially render this variance moot if they can craft a more fine 
tuned ordinance. 
 
Dr. Griffith asked if there was a parking space requirement. 
 



LOCAL PLANNING AGENCY                PAGE 3                  SEPTEMBER 22, 2011  
 
Deanna Freeman said there was and they had one ADA parking space plus three 
additional spaces. 
 
MOTION: Dr. Griffith moved to approve the request to consider a variance to 
accommodate a Pilates studio and Professional Office with a front setback of 24.33 feet, 
where 25 feet is required; side setbacks of 2.65 and 10.6 feet where 15.0 feet is required; 
a minimum lot width of 50 feet where 100 feet is required; and a minimum lot area of 
5,983 square feet where 10,000 square feet is required. Project Name: Stephann Cotton 
Project No.: Z11080004 Location: 705 SE 5 St., Stuart, FL with the recommended 
conditions  
SECOND:   Kelli Glass 
 
Motion carried 3/0  
 
IV:   COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: 
 
V:   NEXT BOA MEETING:   October 27, 2011 
 
VI: ADJOURN:      5:59 PM  
 
Chair Landry, there being no further business before the Board the meeting is adjourned. 
 
APPROVED      RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED 
 
 
 
_______________________________  ____________________________ 
Bonnie Landry, Chair     Michelle Vicat, Board Secretary 
 
 
  
 
 


